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	I.	Introduction
	The Securities and Exchange Commission was for a long time a quiet partner in sharing responsibility with the Department of Justice for enforcing the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act. Although the FCPA was derived in large measure as a result of SEC enforcement actions and investigations in the foreign payment scandals of the 1970’s, the SEC brought only three actions related to alleged foreign bribery from the 1978 passage of the FCPA until 1996. That has clearly changed, as the SEC has filed four foreign payments cases in the past year.
	The SEC’s renewed interest in foreign bribery surfaced publicly in 1996, with an enforcement action against Montedison, SpA, alleging various violations arising from Montedison’s payments to Italian government officials.  The following year, the Commission filed an enforcement action against Triton Energy and various former Triton officials.  It was December 2000 when the SEC brought another foreign payments case, this time against IBM for actions that occurred in IBM’s Argentina subsidiary.  In the twelve months since then, the SEC has brought FCPA enforcement actions against Baker Hughes, Inc. and Chiquita Brands International, Inc., which were the subjects of previous commentary by Foley & Lardner.  In addition, in July of this year, the Commission, along with the Department of Justice, filed major enforcement actions against American Bank Note Holographics, Inc. (“ABNH”) and former senior officers and employees of ABNH.  The ABNH case, is a comprehensive financial fraud prosecution containing allegations, among other things, that ABNH officers bribed a foreign government official.  
	The outcome was forceful and comprehensive and involved criminal charges being filed against four former officers and civil injunctive and administrative charges being filed against the companies.  On the foreign bribery charges, ABNH consented to the entry of a civil cease-and-desist order prohibiting future violations of the antifraud, books and records, and internal accounting controls provisions of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and agreed to pay a $75,000 civil penalty.  Civil and criminal charges are pending against former officers and employees who allegedly participated in the misconduct.  ABNH’s costly and disruptive experience highlights the dramatic consequences of failing to comply with the FCPA.  


	II.	Overview of the FCPA	
	The Act consists of two parts:  the antibribery provisions and the record-keeping and internal accounting controls provisions.  A violation of either of these provisions can result in criminal and civil penalties. The SEC and the Department of Justice jointly enforce the FCPA.  The SEC’s jurisdiction is civil and extends to issuers of securities registered with the Commission, and to individuals whose conduct is related to that charged against the issuer.  The Justice Department conducts all criminal prosecutions, as well as civil prosecutions involving persons or entities other than public companies.    
	Antibribery provisions: The FCPA’s antibribery provisions prohibit the direct or indirect payment by any covered person[footnoteRef:2] of money or anything of value to employees or officials of a foreign government, public international organization or political party, or to any other person, while knowing that all or a portion of such money or thing of value will be offered for the purpose of influencing or inducing one of the above to do or refrain from doing any act, in order to assist the covered person in obtaining or retaining business or securing any improper advantage.[footnoteRef:3]   [2:  The FCPA antibribery provisions apply to “issuers,” “domestic concerns,” and “any person” who violates the FCPA while in the United States.  The term “any person” includes foreign persons and corporations.  Foreign persons are subject to the FCPA only when they perform an act in furtherance of a bribe while in the United States or its territories.
  ]  [3:  Exchange Act, § 30(A) (codified as 15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1, et seq).] 

	Record-keeping and internal accounting controls provisions: These provisions require (1) that books, records and accounts are kept in reasonable detail to accurately and fairly reflect transactions and dispositions of assets; and (2) that a system of internal accounting controls is devised (a) to provide reasonable assurances that transactions are executed in accordance with management’s authorization; (b) to ensure that assets are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements and to maintain accountability for assets; (c) to limit access to assets to management’s authorization; and (d) to make certain that recorded accountability for assets is compared with the existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.[footnoteRef:4]  Note that the record-keeping and internal accounting controls provisions apply only to issuers that have securities registered with the SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act (essentially, all publicly-held companies in the U.S., and any foreign companies listed on the U.S. stock markets).   [4:  Exchange Act, § 13(b)(2)(A)-(B) (codified as 15 U.S.C. §§ 78m(b)(2)(A)-(B)).] 

	The Department of Justice can bring criminal charges against companies or individuals for intentionally misrecording payments, even if the prosecutor cannot prove that the payment was an illegal bribe.[footnoteRef:5]  In addition, the books and records and internal accounting controls provisions can be violated by false or inaccurate descriptions of the payments.  For example, describing a payment as an “equipment repair,” when in fact the payment was for an otherwise legal commission on a project, could violate both provisions.  Individuals who willfully violate these provisions may be fined criminally up to $1,000,000, imprisoned up to ten years, or both.  A corporation or other business entity may be fined criminally up to $2,500,000, or alternatively, up to twice the amount of any pecuniary gain or loss resulting from violation of accounting provisions.   The SEC’s remedial authority encompasses the full range of injunctive and administrative relief, as well as civil penalties and officer and director bars. [5:  No scienter of any kind is required for a civil violation.] 

	
III.	ABNH’s Alleged Violation of the FCPA
	The government’s allegations describe a wide-ranging financial fraud scheme, including bribery of foreign officials, against ABNH, its parent company, and its former officers.  Prior to July 1998,  ABNH was a wholly owned subsidiary of American Banknote Corporation.  In July 1998, American Banknote Corporation sold its entire interest in ABNH in an initial public offering that raised $107 million.  The Registration Statement for the IPO allegedly included many materially false statements, designed to make it appear that American Banknote Corporation was meeting earnings forecasts.  The fraud continued in order to condition the market for the IPO, exaggerate ABNH’s success, and pay down American Banknote Corporation’s debt.  The two companies, through the actions of their former senior officers and others, engaged in a variety of fraudulent practices that materially increased annual and quarterly revenue and net income.  The companies attempted to cover-up their wrongdoing by falsifying documents and by lying to auditors.  
	Among other charges, the SEC charged ABNH and two of its officers with violating the anti-bribery provision of the FCPA, found in Section 30A of the Exchange Act.  ABNH employed agents who were responsible for seeking out new business in various regions of the world.  In an effort to obtain a contract for the production of holograms for a foreign government, ABNH officers authorized a payment in the amount of $239,000 U.S. dollars to a bank account for the benefit of one or more officials of that foreign government.  The employee wired the money as instructed and ABNH misleadingly characterized this fee in its books and records as a consulting fee.  The amount paid comprised nearly 40% of the contract’s value and constituted an additional payment ABNH made for the purpose of influencing or affecting the acts or decisions of one or more of the foreign officials, or of the foreign government, in order to assist ABNH in obtaining or retaining business with the foreign government.
	In November 1998, ABNH’s auditors became aware that some customers had invoices showing dollar amounts different from those amounts reflected on ABNH’s versions of the same invoices.  In response to this discovery, ABNH’s Audit Committee retained counsel to conduct an internal investigation.  Upon learning of improper conduct at ABNH, the Company promptly reported its discovery to the Commission staff.  ABNH conducted a thorough internal investigation, apprised the Commission staff of its findings and cooperated with the SEC in its investigation of the matter. 
	All of ABNH’s former senior management, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, President, Vice President of Finance and Controller have resigned or have been terminated and the Company has replaced them with a new team.  Former management failed to maintain proper policies and did not have a written policy prohibiting the violations of law that occurred.  The new management instituted various procedures including a written code of business conduct.  
	ABNH consented to the Commission’s entry of a cease-and-desist order finding that it violated the FCPA’s books and records, internal accounting controls and antibribery provisions, as well as antifraud and periodic reporting provisions of the Securities Act and Exchange Act, and prohibiting future violations of those provisions.  In a separate action filed in federal court, the Commission imposed a $75,000 civil penalty on ABNH, specifically for violating the anti-bribery provision.  The SEC noted that it considered ABNH’s prompt remedial acts and cooperation in imposing the relief set forth in the order.
	A total of nine individuals were charged in related SEC enforcement actions, and four were criminally charged by the Department of Justice.  The SEC charged two former senior officers of ABNH, Morris Weissman and Joshua Cantor, with violating the anti-bribery provision, among the other charges typically found in financial fraud cases, and is seeking an injunction, and an order barring Weissman and Cantor from serving as officers or directors of any public company, return of unjust enrichment, and civil penalties. One of the senior officers,  Cantor, pled guilty to criminal violations of the anti-bribery provision, as well as to securities fraud, books and records, and lying to auditors.
	In short, the past year has witnessed a notable increase in SEC activity, as the Commission has followed through on its promise to once again make foreign bribery an enforcement priority.  The ABNH and Baker-Hughes filings demonstrate that the SEC and the Department of Justice are coordinating efforts as never before, as shown by the coordinated filing of civil charges in the Baker-Hughes case, and the coordinated filing of civil and criminal charges in the ABNH case.

	IV.	Foley & Lardner Recommendations

	We recommend the following for U.S. companies:

· Implement a comprehensive FCPA compliance program by, among other things, preparing and distributing a compliance handbook which includes information and guidance regarding the FCPA;

· Ensure that compliance audits of the business practices and accounting procedures of foreign-organized entities are performed in a timely and thorough manner in order to verify and conform such practices and procedures accordingly and to detect sensitive payments and other possible improprieties;

· Take serious remedial measures based on results of compliance audits;

· Designate qualified personnel to review monthly funding requests for reasonableness;

· Educate personnel regarding the importance that your company places on keeping accurate books and records that in reasonable detail describe the transactions and dispositions of assets;

· Designate compliance officers responsible for the education, training and monitoring of subsidiaries’ officers, directors, employees, agents and other representatives because  corporate policies must be followed throughout the entire company;

· Conduct annual FCPA training of personnel involved with or responsible for your company’s international operations, whether based in the United States or overseas.  In conjunction with an annual training program for such personnel, companies should provide FCPA training to all newly-hired personnel involved with or responsible for the company’s international operations, whether based in the United States or overseas;

· Make it evident that members of senior management, including the Law Department, are personally committed to compliance.  For example, we recommend that a company involve its senior officers in communicating to personnel any new policies or guidelines to be implemented.



	If you would like additional information regarding these or other FCPA issues, please contact:
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Gregory S. Bruch[footnoteRef:6] [6:  Mr.  Bruch recently joined Foley & Lardner as a partner after working at the SEC for 12 years, the last six of which were spent as an Assistant Director at Division of Enforcement.  ] 
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